
PLANNING, REGULATORY AND 
LICENSING

5.00 PM WEDNESDAY, 4TH JANUARY, 2017
COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that this meeting will be recorded for subsequent broadcast via the Authority’s 
Internet Site. 

 
The images and sound recording may also be used for training purposes within the Authority.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members 

of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and 
sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the 
Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 

contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

Members are reminded of their personal responsibility 
to declare any personal and prejudicial interest in 
respect of matters contained in this agenda in 
accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government and Finance Act 1992 relating to Council 
Tax, the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s 
Constitution and the Members Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must identify 
the item number and subject matter that their 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


interest relates to and signify the nature of the 
personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting as a 
consequence of the disclosure of a prejudicial 
interest they must notify the Chair when they 
leave

Planning Applications  -  Recommendations under the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 and the Planning and Compensation Act 1991

3. P/16/0003 - Morlais Medical Centre, Berry Square, 
Dowlais, Merthyr Tydfil 

To consider report of Deputy Chief Executive 1 - 24

4. P/15/0204 - Trebeddau Farm, Mountain Hare, 
Penheolferthyr, Twynyrodyn, Merthyr Tydfil 

To consider report of Deputy Chief Executive 25 - 34

Information Reports

5. Appeal Received P/16/0283 

To receive report of Deputy Chief Executive 35 - 36

6. Appeal Decision P/16/0041 

To receive report of Deputy Chief Executive 37 - 40

7. Delegated Decision Report List 1-30 November 

To receive report of Deputy Chief Executive 41 - 46

Other Business

8. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillor  C T Jones (Chair) 

Councillors:  H Barrett, T Chaplin, E Galsworthy, A Jones, 
W R Smith, G Lewis, S Slater, L E Smart and S Williams

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 
            

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/16/0003 4th March 2016 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Change of use of part of the 
building to a pharmacy (A1 use 
class), creation of new entrance 
with canopy and footpath and 
installation of new external air 
condenser unit 

Morlais Medical Centre 
Berry Square 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3AL 
 

Morlais Medical Practice  
c/o Stride Treglown 
F.a.o. Coral Ducroq 
Treglown Court 
Dowlais Road 
Cardiff    

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
TO FURTHER CONSIDER PLANNING APPLICATION P/16/0003 
 
FACT FINDING SITE VISIT CARRIED OUT ON 1ST AUGUST 2016 
 
At the Planning, Regulatory and Licensing Committee meeting on the 20th July 2016, it was 
resolved to defer the determination of the application to undertake a fact finding site visit. 
This took place on the 1st August 2016. 
 
The main issues raised by Members during this site visit centred around the impact of the 
re-location of the pharmacy on Dowlais local centre and highway safety concerns. Members 
also sought clarification on some aspects of the proposal. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



As noted in the original report, the re-location of the pharmacy to the Morlais Medical 
Centre would result in the introduction of an A1 use outside the local centre contrary to 
Policy AS18 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP). Members were advised 
that the applicant had failed to provide an adequate retail assessment which demonstrates 
the need for the provision of a pharmacy outside the local centre. It was pointed out that, 
due to the location of the medical centre, the proposal would be likely to result in a 
reduction of footfall in the local centre that would potentially impact on other businesses, 
including the existing Dowlais Pharmacy. This proposal could therefore have an adverse 
impact on the vitality and viability of Dowlais local centre.  
 
Members were also advised that the existing unit, currently occupied by Pearn’s Pharmacy 
could be left vacant if the application was approved. This property however, could be 
occupied by any other A1 (shop) use without the need for planning permission.  It was 
highlighted that given its location on the very edge of the local centre, there would be a 
concern that over time the property could either remain vacant or result in the permanent 
loss of a retail premises, which would harm the vitality and viability of the local centre.   
 
Clarification was also sought regarding the applicants’ ability to submit further evidence in 
support of the application. Members were advised that the application has been under 
consideration since January 2016 and the applicant has had sufficient time and opportunity 
to submit the necessary supporting information. It was noted that the applicant considers 
that given the scale of the retail element of the proposal (i.e. 35% of the total floor space) a 
full retail assessment was not necessary.    
 
The other matters raised by Members at the fact finding site visit related to parking facilities 
and highway safety. It was pointed out that parking is provided to the west of Morlais 
Medical Centre and there are public car parks within walking distance of the site. Members 
were reminded that the Engineering and Traffic Group Leader did not raise objections to 
this proposal and that illegal parking would be a matter for the Police. This was confirmed 
by the Engineering and Traffic Group Leader who attended the fact finding site visit. 
 
FURTHER INFORMATION RECEIVED ON 31ST AUGUST 2016 
 
Since the fact finding site visit, a report prepared by Reeves Retail Planning Consultancy 
Ltd for Stride Treglown on behalf of the applicant was submitted in support of the 
application and in an attempt to overcome the recommended reason of refusal. The report 
reiterates information previously submitted, regarding the nature of the proposed 
development, its location, the justification for the proposal and the relevant national and 
local planning policies. It also includes additional information relating to need, the 
sequential approach and the retail impact assessment. In summary the report highlights the 
following: 
 
Need 
 

 Both existing pharmacies are well used and issued over 27,600 prescriptions in the 
year to November 2015, which equates to over 530 per week and 88 a day (6 day 
week trading).  

 The high level of prescriptions issued reflects  the close proximity of the two existing 
medical centres, Morlais Medical Centre (located just outside the Dowlais local 

Page 2



centre and the subject of this application) and Dowlais Medical Centre (located on 
the corner of Ivor Street/Victoria Street).  

 The health profile of the area is likely to influence the proximity of the two 
pharmacies.  

 Trading potential and efficient working is constrained by the physical limitations of 
Pearn’s pharmacy.   

 The demand for prescriptions and associated sales, including retail sales, are 
expected to increase in the future. The comparison sales (which includes goods that 
form part of the retail sales proposed by this application) have been increasing since 
2011 and are likely to continue to increase on an annual basis. From 2011 to 2021 
expenditure is likely to increase by over 35% or 25% once allowance is made for 
other forms of trading (e.g. the internet) . Therefore, this increase in comparison floor 
space within the centre is appropriate if the same proportion of need is to be met 
locally.  

 The population of Merthyr Tydfil is expected to rise to 60,077 in 2016 from 58,581 in 
2011.  

 The population of Dowlais is expected to increase once the allocated housing site, 
H23 (Former Dowlais Foundry) is developed.  

 The population aged over 65 is expected to increase from 9,856 in 2011 to 11,937 in 
2021, which suggests there will be an increase in the demand for medical services 
and prescriptions, as well as an increase in available expenditure in the immediate 
vicinity of Dowlais to support the small edge of local centre associated retail floor 
space (34m²) proposed. This demonstrates the quantitative need for additional 
floorspace for the effective operation of Pearn’s pharmacy.   

 
Sequential Approach 
 

 The re-location involves a move of 40 metres from the existing unit and 25 metres 
from the designated local centre, and will have no effect on the accessibility to the 
pharmacy, how customers use it or the remaining centre. 

 The re-location will remain within walking distance for visitors or customers wishing 
to undertake linked shopping trips and the re-located pharmacy will function as it 
does now.  

 There are no vacant units within the centre. The relocation represents the next best 
preferable alternative, closest to the centre. Compliance with the sequential test has 
therefore been demonstrated.        

 
Retail Impact Assessment 
 

 A minimum threshold of 2,500 sq. m gross of new retail floor space is normally 
necessary before an impact assessment is required. 
 

 This current proposal increases the out of centre floor space by 96m² (whereby only 
34m² of floor space would be retail). It is therefore unusual for an assessment to be 
required. However, due to the concerns expressed in the committee report regarding 
the relocation of Pearn’s pharmacy, the existing business and centre turnover has 
been considered, as well as two alternative scenarios: the existing Pearn’s pharmacy 
is reoccupied; or the existing Pearn’s pharmacy remains vacant.  

 

Page 3



 The planning system cannot prevent or control the closure of retail or other outlets. It 
is only the occupation of the existing Pearn’s unit by a use other than A1 which 
would require planning permission. 

 
Existing Business and Centre Turnover:  

 
 The retail study which informed the Local Development Plan (prepared by 

Roger Tim & Partners in 2008) included health checks of Dowlais local centre, 
but has no information on the centre’s turnover. This has implications for the 
preparation of a retail impact assessment requested.   

 The study confirmed that the centre contained five outlets where only two 
were an A1 use. A recent visit confirms that A1 retail uses have increased to 7 
in Dowlais centre since the 2008 study. There are also other A2 and A3 uses.  

 Floorspace data suggests that Pearn’s pharmacy occupies less than 15% of 
the total A1 floorspace in the centre. Thus, the contribution of retail sales 
made by Pearn’s pharmacy will be small, as retail sales amount to only 2% of 
the overall turnover.  

 Even if Pearn’s pharmacy traded at a similar level to other retail units, it would 
still be limited to 34m² of retail trading floorspace. Based on the study carried 
out, it could be expected to achieve around £900 per m² at 2006 prices, which 
would equate to around £840 per m² in current prices. The resulting turnover 
would amount to £28,560 given the store size.     

 
Effect on the Centre if Existing Unit Reoccupied: 
 

 This is highly unlikely given the increase in retail units and the lack of vacant 
sites in the centre.  

 Any other A1 use would increase the turnover of the centre, add more 
diversity and increase vitality and viability. 

 The relocation of the pharmacy, due to its close proximity to the centre, would 
not alter the need for customers to make linked shopping trips and the 
additional walking distance would be unlikely to change shopping habits.  

 Dowlais pharmacy is existing and could be used for shoppers not wishing to 
leave the local centre.  

 Assuming that the unit is reoccupied, the relocation of Pearn’s pharmacy is 
likely to have a positive impact on the centre.  
 
Effect on the Centre if the Existing Unit Remains Vacant:  

 
 The centre would see a small decrease in total sales, without adversely 

affecting other units.  
 There would be no expected change in linked trips as shoppers would walk 

the additional distance to use Pearn’s pharmacy or continue to shop in 
Dowlais pharmacy.  

 Any adverse impact on the centre would be small and limited, due to limited 
retail sales from Pearn’s pharmacy. There are therefore no retail impact 
reasons to refuse the current proposal.  

Page 4



ADDITIONAL OBJECTIONS RECEIVED ON 29TH SEPTEMBER 2016 
 

Following the receipt of the report summarised above, two objection letters (from the same 
objector) have been received. The objector has reiterated some of the issues previously 
raised, and as such the following is a summary of the additional concerns: 
 

 The retail assessment is inadequate due to errors and misrepresentations and the 
unconvincing need argument put forward by the applicant.  

 The relocation could result in three pharmacies in close vicinity and the need to 
relocate from the retail centre is not well reasoned in this regard. 

 The working relationship with the medical practice is not robust since all business is 
undertaken electronically. The need to relocate is not fully reasoned. 

 If the authority is minded to approve the application, the pharmaceutical regulations 
regarding the adequacy argument should be referred to in the officer’s report.  

 The pharmacy is not within easy walking distance for the elderly, infirm or mothers 
with prams, who have to cross a busy highway to reach the re-located pharmacy. 

 The paragraphs under the Planning Policy section can be challenged in particular 
TAN4. There is a presumption in extending the local centre, which if the precedent of 
departing from policy is considered appropriate, then the use should be tied to the 
Medical Practice, so as to not encourage further retail development at the building 
currently occupied by the Medical Practice given the current merger of the two 
previous doctor’s surgeries into one entity.  

 Approving this application would cause harm to the local centre and go against the 
Welsh Government’s objectives for retailing and town centres and should not be a 
reason to depart from the Local Development Plan.  

 Retail sales are more than that submitted in the application documents and are not 
low. If they are so low, the pharmacy should be restricted to prescription medicines 
only, as originally claimed. 

 The sentence referring to prescription numbers issued is misleading and inaccurate 
and questions the accuracy of the information related to numerical analysis. 27,600 
prescriptions are stated to have occurred in the year to November 2015. Publicly 
available figures for prescriptions issued over this period is approximately 330,000 
per annum. Turnover is far greater than stated given my experience of operating a 
pharmacy in Dowlais. 

 In terms of the physical limitations of the building, there are other options available to 
Pearn’s pharmacy. No assessment has been provided to demonstrate that the 
existing accommodation cannot be improved and extended to satisfy the perceived 
needs. 

 The additional information states that sales, which include retail sales are increasing 
and are expected to continue to increase on an annual basis. This contradicts with 
earlier statements made, that the retail element was very small. Now it is being 
claimed it is due to increase annually. 

 The argument regarding the increase of the population in Dowlais, once the 
allocated housing site has been developed is subjective and speculative, as it may 
not attract developers.  

 Quantitative need has not been adequately demonstrated and the need for the 
pharmacy to relocate outside the centre has therefore not been adequately 
demonstrated.  

 The earlier comments of the Policy and Implementation Officer refer to other 
development management impacts which should be fully assessed and considered.  

Page 5



 The implication of the merger between the pharmacy and the medical practice has 
not been considered appropriately in the officer’s report in terms of additional 
patients attending Morlais Medical Practice and the impact this would have on 
highway and pedestrian safety.    

 The figures in the retail assessment are misleading, incorrect and have implications 
for highway impact.  

 The entrance to the pharmacy should be removed in order that the safety of 
pedestrians, vehicular highway users and congestion is not exacerbated. The car 
park at the Morlais Medical Centre would not allow larger van deliveries to safely 
negotiate the car park. This means they would park (illegally) on the public highway 
which would impede visibility from the Berry Square/Victoria Street junction. It may 
also result in lorries parking on the pavement and in the bus stop opposite. The new 
access would also encourage vehicles to park up whilst dropping off/picking up 
patients to the surgery or pharmacy. 

 Officers and Members should not rely on the information presented in the additional 
information, which should be professionally examined and reviewed before accepting 
its content, assumptions and conclusions. 

 

FURTHER INFORMATION RECEIVED ON 28TH OCTOBER 2016 
 

Following the receipt of the objections referred to above, the applicant has submitted 
additional information in an attempt to overcome the concerns raised. This is summarised 
below: 
 

 New pharmacies require licenses from the health board before opening. It is unlikely 
another pharmacy would open in Dowlais. 

 The need for co-location is based around partnership working between GP’s and 
pharmacies, improving patient access to healthcare, improving prudent prescribing, 
facilitating investment in the medical practice and providing a more robust and 
financially stable facility. Electronic transmission of prescriptions is not a system 
currently used in Wales.   

 The Chartered Institute of Highways and Transportation (CIHT) published 
‘Guidelines for Providing for Journeys on Foot’ (2000) and states that a 200 metre 
walking distance in town centres is desirable, and 400 is acceptable. The proposal 
increases walking distances from 70 metres to 110 metres.  

 Visitors to the pharmacy who are not already visiting the medical centre would cross 
Berry Square, served by dropped kerbs, just over the stated walking distance. 
Visitors who do not wish to walk the short additional distance, have the choice of 
using the in-centre Dowlais pharmacy. 

 The objector does not provide reasons or evidence as to why the policy section can 
be challenged. 

 No evidence of harm is provided by the objector. This application does not seek to 
extend the local centre, which would need to be considered as part of the 
development plan review. This proposal is for an edge of centre development in a 
location that benefits from close proximity to other commercial businesses. 

 Confidential evidence of low retail sales (i.e. those not related to NHS prescriptions) 
have been submitted.  

 The prescription numbers have been amended as these represent monthly figures 
and not annual figures. ‘...published data indicates that the two existing pharmacies 
in Dowlais are both extremely well used currently and issued in excess of 27,600 

Page 6



prescriptions during November 2015 ...assuming this to be an average month, this 
equates to around 6,370 a week over the year or 1,060 a day assuming a 6-day 
trading week. Based on actual opening hours which total 85.5 hours a week, this 
means 74 prescriptions an hour are dispensed, more than one every minute...’ The 
correct figures highlight that the pharmacies are even more well used than that 
presented in the report.    

 The retail assessment seeks to show how overall spending on non-food/comparison 
goods is expected to continue to increase in the coming years, regardless of any 
changes in population levels, i.e. as affluence and the costs of different goods 
changes, individuals adjust their spending on different goods and services.  

 Whilst individual circumstances vary, the overall trend for households at the present 
time is to spend the same or less on convenience (food items) and more on 
comparison (non-food) sales (this includes retail items sold in pharmacies, such as 
hair accessories, toiletries and beauty products). Thus, the evidence indicates that, if 
an individual’s spending on such items at Pearn’s pharmacy was £10 a year in 2011, 
by 2014 this would have increased to £10.99 at constant prices and by 2021 will be 
£12.97.  

 Although retail sales at the pharmacy are low and represent a small proportion of the 
overall business, what this indicates is that the cumulative effect over a number of 
years is to increase the demand for such goods, which in turn results in a need to 
increase the amount of floorspace devoted to such sales. If this demand is not met 
locally, the likelihood is that individuals will eventually shop elsewhere, including out 
of centre locations, where the larger shops are able to provide the wider range of 
products customers want.  

 There is a likelihood that the allocated housing site would be deliverable over the 
plan period (until 2021).  

 The age profile of the area is expected to increase and the prevalence of long-term 
health conditions increases with age.  

 In the absence of published data for the retail outlets within the Dowlais centre, the 
retail assessment has sought to estimate turnover based on information available, 
namely that from the Council commissioned survey. However, even if the two 
pharmacies are trading at a higher level than assumed, this does not negate the 
case that the turnover of the Pearn’s pharmacy will only represent a small proportion 
of the total centre sales, given its limited size. The conclusions of the retail impact 
assessment would therefore remain unchanged.   

 No two businesses are the same.  Dowlais Pharmacy appears to be more retail 
focussed, while Pearn’s pharmacy is more health/prescriptions focused.  

 Full occupation of all available retail units is beneficial for the retail centre which 
encourages sustainable local shopping trips.  

 Double yellow lines are in place along a large part of the local retail centre including 
Morlais centre and the two pharmacies and there is no reason to suggest that an 
additional entrance and active frontage will encourage or attract unauthorised 
parking any more than it currently does.  

 The new entrance will provide a convenient link for patients collecting prescriptions 
when the Medical Centre is closed on a Saturday morning and for visitors who are 
not patients of the Morlais Centre. The pharmacy is contractually obliged to open on 
Saturdays.  

 The delivery schedule will match the existing premises on Victoria Street with the 
pharmacy receiving two daily deliveries.  

Page 7



 The ownership of the medical practice is not a material consideration.  

 Patient numbers will remain unchanged. 

 The objection comments refer to “glaring” errors and “misrepresentation” in the retail 
report, however, with the exception of the error in retail assessment, no evidence or 
justification has been submitted to contradict these comments.   

 

A Feasibility Report which considers the potential for the refurbishment and expansion of 
the existing Pearn’s Pharmacy has been submitted by the applicant. In summary this report 
states: 
 

 Pearn’s pharmacy is dated, limited in size and accessed directly from a narrow 
pedestrian footpath; 

 There are no allocated parking spaces and there is limited on-street parking which 
serves both pharmacies and cafe.  

 The pharmacy has an apartment at first floor.  

 The solid stone walls restrict internal level changes and adaptability.  

 The irregular layout prevents the effective storage solutions and staff working. 

 Narrow spaces prevent effective staff working. 

 There are low head heights and multiple levels throughout the building. 

 The temporary lean-to covered link is inadequate. 

 The staffroom and WC is within a stock area.  

 The existing premises restricts the pharmacy from increasing staffing numbers to 
meet dispensing demands, which should be discretely carried out away from 
customers.   

 Prescription volumes in Wales are growing at a rate of 2.5% each year and Pearn’s 
pharmacy is limited in its future growth due to the size of the premises and the staff 
numbers which can be accommodated (preventing the pharmacy from receiving the 
full practice remuneration).   

 Any amendments to the premises will be required to meet building regulations and 
standards, as storage areas are likely to be required to be updated to fire escape 
routes and accessibility would be required to meet the needs of disabled customers 
and staff.  

 The existing pharmacy has the following constraints which prevents it operating as a 
successful and efficient pharmacy: 
 

o undamaged even surfaces which supports high quality patient care; 
o dispensary size and layout including surface area of the dispensary 

bench should reflect sufficient volume of prescriptions and staffing 
levels and facilitate an uninterrupted, safe and efficient workflow;    

o dispensary should be organised to prevent distractions and provide 
safe delivery of patient care; 

o sufficient space must be available for storage of medicines and for their 
storage at an accessible height; 

o the dispensing and non-prescription medicines should be appropriately 
laid out whilst maintaining security and confidentiality;  

o entry of staff area and facilities must be controlled and restricted; 
o adequate and separate staff facilities should be provided;     

 

 Refurbishment of the building could involve relocation of furniture, provide additional 
stock room and relocate counters, however this will prevent stock organisation and 

Page 8



will not ensure the efficient operation of the pharmacy. Major structural works would 
be required to provide level access throughout. This could impact on the building’s 
foundation and it would still be insufficient to accommodate the dispensing bench 
and provide staff facilities. In addition, reducing the public area to provide additional 
dispensing space would reduce waiting space for customers. The fact that the 
pharmacy is not contractually able to close for refurbishment also limits opportunities 
for refurbishment.  

 Again, there are opportunities to extend the property. Whilst the external bin area is 
required, the rear yard would provide an additional 13m² of internal space for 
additional stock shelving, however this would also be required to comply with 
building regulations. The proposed layout would need to be confirmed by a structural 
engineer and a fire safety officer. A new fire escape may also be required which 
would restrict the usability of the stock room. The removal of solid stone walls would 
be costly to remove and the overall layout would remain poor and irregular and with 
limited dispensing/checking area.  
 

ADDITIONAL OBJECTION RECEIVED ON 21ST NOVEMBER 2016   
 
Following the receipt of additional information, as summarised above, an additional 
objection letter has been received. The objector, once again, reiterates concerns already 
raised, but also refers to additional concerns as summarised below: 
 

 The cost of refurbishment should not be a material planning consideration; 

 Significant refurbishment and structural works have been undertaken at Dowlais 
pharmacy and this remained operational. 

 The author of the report is making assumptions regarding structural and building 
works and is not qualified to make such assessments.  

 Difference in floor levels can be accommodated by introducing ramps or having the 
floor levels rebuilt. An independent Chartered Building Surveyors Report should be 
submitted. 

 Part of the building at ground floor and first floor is rented out to private 
accommodation. This should be used as additional storage facilities to enable the 
ground floor to be used for retail and a prescribing area (similar to the operation of 
the Dowlais Pharmacy) to meet the needs of Pearn’s pharmacy; 

 Dowlais high street boundary includes the adjoining property 29a also owned by 
Pearn’s Pharmacy. It’s a residential property in the retail area and could be 
converted. This property offers ground and first floor options for use by the pharmacy 
which have not been considered in the feasibility report. The amended retail report 
and feasibility report can therefore not be considered to address LDP Policy AS18.  

 Separate access to the Medical Practice is unnecessary. The Saturday morning 
contractual hours can be addressed by varying the pharmaceutical contract with 
Cwm Taf University Health Board. This service is already provided by Dowlais 
Pharmacy, and a variation is therefore likely. 

 Two deliveries per day is an absolute minimum as Pearn’s have a contract with two, 
if not three wholesale drug companies, where deliveries are made by large vehicles 
using crates and trolley. The officer’s report cannot solely rely on the highway officer 
comments since they may not be aware of the merger implications and the increase 
in public now using this facility compared to before and the parking needs of the 
delivery vehicles. The solution is to avoid a separate access for public and deliveries.  

Page 9



 The projected business needs and the case put forward by the agent provides an 
incomplete assessment given the opportunities that the accommodation in the 
ownership of Pearn’s can offer.  

 Co-location with the existing medical practice will not provide a more sustainable 
future for the medical practice especially since the two doctor’s surgeries have 
become one entity.   

 It is not considered that the information provided by the applicant is of sufficient 
material substance to justify an officer recommendation for approval contrary to the 
policies in the Development Plan.   

 
FURTHER CONSULTATION WITH THE ENGINEERING AND TRAFFIC GROUP LEADER 
FOLLOWING THE ADDITIONAL INFORMATION RECEIVED ON 21ST NOVEMBER 2016 
 
Following the receipt of the above information this was sent to the Engineering and Traffic 
Group Leader for further consideration. He advised that his comments have not changed as 
a result of this additional objection.   
 
FURTHER INFORMATION RECEIVED ON 24TH NOVEMBER 2016 
 
Since the receipt of the objections referred to above, the applicant’s agent has submitted 
information to emphasise that even with the demolition of the wall in the stock room to 
expand into the entrance hall of the first floor apartment, it would only provide a narrow 
work area and would therefore not address the accommodation/storage requirements of the 
pharmacy.     
 
ADDITIONAL OBJECTION RECEIVED ON 12TH DECEMBER 2016 
 
Following the receipt of the additional information, as noted above, as well as referring to 
previously raised concerns relating to the historic use of 29 and 29a Victoria Street (and 
how the use of the ground floor hallway and first floor apartment has not been fully 
explored) the objector also notes that the red line boundary plan which denotes the local 
centre boundary is incorrect. However, Committee should note that the submitted plans are 
correct and in accordance with the boundary highlighted in the LDP.  
 
FURTHER CONSULTATION RESPONSE OF THE PLANNING DIVISION’S GROUP 
LEADER POLICY AND IMPLEMENTATION 
 
Following the receipt of all the above additional information the Group Leader Policy and 
Implementation was again consulted. He is satisfied the need and sequential test, as 
required by policy AS18 of the LDP and TAN4, are both met. However, he has concluded 
that the proposal would result in a concentration of uses outside of the local centre which 
would have an adverse impact on the vitality, attractiveness and viability of the Dowlais 
local centre. 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS TAKING INTO ACCOUNT THE ADDITIONAL 
INFORMATION, OBJECTIONS AND CONSULTATION RESPONSES RECEIVED 
FOLLOWING THE FACT FINDING SITE VISIT 
 
As Committee will note, since the previous recommendation to refuse the planning 
application and subsequent fact finding visit a considerable amount of supporting 

Page 10



information has been submitted by the applicant. Equally, as a result of the receipt of this 
information, numerous objections (from the same objector) have also been received. 
Committee should also be aware that an updated Planning Policy Wales (PPW - November 
2016) and Technical Advice Note 4 (TAN 4) – Retail and Commercial Development have 
also been issued since the drafting of the original report. All of the above, as well as the 
additional consultation responses, need to be fully assessed before arriving at a 
recommendation.  
 
As referred to in the original committee report, which is duplicated below, the application 
was recommended for refusal, for the reason that a retail assessment was not submitted 
and the proposed development could potentially harm the vitality and viability of the local 
centre and therefore failed to comply with LDP Policy AS18.    
 
Chapter 10 (Retail and Commercial Development) of PPW points out (paragraph 10.1.2), 
amongst other things, that ‘The Welsh Government’s objectives for retail and commercial 
centres are to: 
 

 Promote viable urban and rural retail and commercial centres as the most 
sustainable locations to live, work, shop, socialise and conduct business; 

 Sustain and enhance retail and commercial centres’ vibrancy, viability and 
attractiveness; and 

 Improve access to, and within, retail and commercial centres by all modes of 
transport, especially walking, cycling and public transport’ 
 

TAN4 states that retail assessments are not merely relevant to applications with a gross 
floorspace of 2,500 sq. metres. At paragraph 8.2 it points out that ‘...smaller retail 
applications or site allocations may also be assessed where local planning authorities 
believe it will have a significant impact on a retail and commercial centre...’. However, the 
TAN appreciates that such requests must be proportionate to potential impacts. Paragraph 
6.2 of the TAN also states that the Welsh Government does not prescribe particular 
methodology for undertaking assessments and it is up to each Local Planning Authority to 
be satisfied with the need evidence and the assessments should be prepared in a clear 
logical and transparent way with the use of robust and realistic evidence.   
 
The content of the retail assessment is somewhat limited given the amount of information 
which is readily available at the local level. Nevertheless, the applicant has had regard to 
the quantitative and qualitative retail need tests. In terms of a quantitative need 
assessment, statistics on the potential growth in the population and the available 
expenditure now and in the future for comparison goods (i.e. those which would be sold in 
the pharmacy) in the local area have been provided and adequately assessed. Based on 
this evidence, it would be difficult to refute that there is a quantitative need for a relatively 
small increase in floorspace in Dowlais to meet the population and associated comparison 
retail spend growth. Therefore, the applicant has justified both the quantitative and 
qualitative (see ‘Assessment of Need’ section of the original committee report) need for the 
proposed development. 
 
With regards to the sequential test, Committee will note that this was addressed in the 
original report (reproduced below) where it was recognised that whilst a sequential test was 
provided, it was considered a ‘weak’ submission. Paragraph 7.1 of TAN4 states that the 
sequential location of proposals should be considered firstly within the retail and 

Page 11



commercial centres identified in the retail hierarchy where suitable sites or buildings for 
conversion are available. If no suitable sites are available in retail and commercial centres, 
then out of edge of centre locations should be considered with preference given to 
brownfield sites which are well connected to the existing centre and accessible by a variety 
of means of transport. Lastly, when the above is found to be unsuitable then out of centre 
options within and outside the settlement can be considered. Paragraph 7.2 of TAN4 refers 
to the suitability of a building and explains that where a developer favours a development 
site outside a commercial centre, they will need to provide evidence to explain why potential 
building’s within the centre are unable to accommodate the format, scale and design of a 
proposed development. As referred to in the supporting information above, the applicant 
has previously confirmed that there are no vacant units within the local centre (as noted in 
the ‘Assessment of Need’ section of the original committee report) and has now, also 
explored the possible conversion and extension of the existing Pearn’s Pharmacy. The 
report submitted in respect of this aspect of the assessment concluded that the extent of 
works required would be significant, costly and would result in the closure of the pharmacy 
for a significant period of time. Furthermore, it was also noted that even with the 
undertaking of significant works, the existing Pearn’s Pharmacy is irregular in size and 
layout and would therefore not lend itself to providing the dispensing and checking area 
required to efficiently and successfully operate the growing pharmacy business. Committee 
should also be aware that the Planning case officer and the Planning Division’s Building 
Control Group Leader have visited the premises to assess the potential for the building to 
be altered to meet the current and future needs of the pharmacy. The conclusion of this visit 
was that the current premises does not appear to be fit for purpose and major alterations to 
the ground (and first) floor would have to be undertaken in order to simply provide a more 
useable and efficient space. Given the variety in floor levels (and therefore head heights) 
and the existing somewhat ad hoc room layouts there would be a need to carry out major 
engineering and refurbishment works which would undoubtedly take a considerable length 
of time to complete. This level of works would clearly lead to the closure of the pharmacy 
for an unacceptably lengthy and harmful period. Even if these works could be undertaken, it 
is highly unlikely that the space created would meet the more modern and efficient 
pharmacy layout which the applicant is proposing in this application. As such, this additional 
information, combined with the previously submitted and assessed evidence concerning the 
lack of available retail floorspace in the existing local centre, satisfies the requirements of 
the sequential test required by TAN 4 and policy AS18 of the LDP.  
 
Although the assessment of need and the sequential test have been found to be 
satisfactory, Policy AS18 of the LDP states that if these are acceptable then proposals ‘will 
then only be permitted where they avoid causing harm to town/local centre vitality and 
viability’. Paragraph 8.3 of TAN4 similarly points out that in addition to need and sequential 
test, an edge of town development (as proposed by this application) should be assessed 
against a range of impact criteria. The most relevant of these criteria is the impact of the 
proposal on the vitality and viability of the town centre. Whilst it is appreciated that 
competition within designated town or local centres is not a planning consideration, the 
impact of the proposed edge of centre pharmacy (and its co-location with a medical centre) 
on Dowlais Pharmacy and thus the local centre must be carefully considered. 
 
As Committee is aware, Morlais Medical Centre is located in close proximity to the local 
centre (approximately 25 metres away). As such, it is possible that linked trips may occur to 
the local centre from the proposed pharmacy, but only in the event that visitors/customers 
seek to visit/use other businesses along Victoria Street (one of the closest of which is 

Page 12



Dowlais Pharmacy). However, there can be no doubt that the re-location of Pearn’s 
Pharmacy into Morlais Medical Centre would be beneficial, both financially and in terms of 
footfall, when compared to its existing premises. The patients/visitors to the medical centre, 
if they require a prescription and/or need comparison goods sold by the pharmacy, would in 
the vast majority of cases use the proposed on-site services. As such, it is highly unlikely 
that visitors to the Morlais Medical Centre would, if they need similar goods/services, utilise 
Dowlais Pharmacy. It is therefore reasonable to conclude that the relocation of Pearn’s 
Pharmacy to Morlais Medical Centre would result in a commercial competitive advantage 
over the existing Dowlais Pharmacy. The proposal would result in a concentration of 
customers in an out of local centre premises with a subsequent reduction of footfall within 
the local centre. The proposal would therefore have an adverse impact on an existing local 
centre shop which would be harmful to the vitality and viability of the Dowlais Local Centre. 
 
Furthermore, the vacancy of the existing A1 unit remains a concern. Whilst the applicant 
suggests that this would become quickly occupied given that there are no other vacant 
retail units in the centre, and is likely to make a more significant retail contribution to the 
centre if occupied by another retail unit (given that the pharmacy only provides a limited 
retail service), it has become clear (from the information submitted to support the sequential 
test) that the existing Pearn’s Pharmacy is irregular in shape, does not provide an easily 
adaptable layout and would require substantial works to bring it up to modern standards. As 
such, the premises may only be attractive to a limited number of investors without 
substantial (potentially unviable) works being carried out. Therefore, there is concern that 
the existing Pearn’s Pharmacy would be vacant for a significant period of time and result in 
other uses being introduced to guarantee the occupation and upkeep of the building.  
 
Finally, the objector has again raised concerns over highway and pedestrian safety as a 
result of the location of the entrance into the proposal pharmacy. It is clear that the 
Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has again fully considered the proposal and has 
concluded that the application is acceptable. Indeed, it would appear that the ‘difficulties 
and dangers’ raised by the objector concerning deliveries and dropping off (and picking up) 
would not be dissimilar to those which currently occur at the existing Pearn’s Pharmacy or 
for that matter in numerous locations in town centres and urban areas in the South Wales 
valleys and beyond. As previously pointed out, illegal parking is a matter for the Police and 
cannot be controlled by the planning system. Therefore, the proposal would not have an 
adverse impact on highway or pedestrian safety and accords with policies BW12 and TB11 
of the LDP. 
 
This is a finely balanced decision, and although an adequate retail assessment has now 
been submitted to demonstrate need in line with policy AS18 of the LDP, PPW and TAN4, 
the protection of the vitality, attractiveness and viability of the local centre is paramount.  
 
For the above reasons, it is considered that the proposed development would cause harm 
to the local centre. As such it is recommended that the application be refused for the 
following revised reason. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE REFUSED    
 
1.  The proposal to re-locate a local centre pharmacy to an existing medical centre 

situated outside the retail area would harm the vitality and viability of the Dowlais 
local centre. As such the proposal would be contrary to Policy AS18 of the Merthyr 

Page 13



Tydfil Local Development Plan and Technical Advice Note 4 – Retail and 
Commercial Development dated November 2016.  

 
COMMITTEE’S DECISION IS REQUIRED 
 
A copy of the original report to Committee is reproduced below for Committee’s 
convenience. 
 
APPLICATION SITE 
 
The application site relates to Morlais Medical Centre, a detached building located on a 
corner plot between Berry Square and Victoria Street, Dowlais. The premises operates as a 
GP surgery, with 14 consulting rooms, as well as a treatment and minor operation facility. 
Its main entrance is accessed off Berry Square with a secondary rear access in the western 
elevation and adjacent to the on-site parking area which provides 18 car parking spaces.  
 
The premises lie to the north of a former nursing home and to the south of the Morlais 
Tavern Public House/Restaurant. It falls within the settlement boundary – Primary Growth 
Area, but is outside the retail centre boundary.    
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
This application seeks planning permission to change the use of part of Morlais Medical 
Centre (Use Class D1) into a medical centre and pharmacy (Use Class A1). The submitted 
details indicate the proposed use would accommodate 96m² of floor space which includes 
34m² of retail floor space. The proposal would result in the re-location of Pearn’s pharmacy, 
from 30 Victoria Street into the medical centre. It would operate from 08:45 until 18:15 
Monday to Fridays and 09:00 until 12:00 on Saturdays. The pharmacy would operate as a 
separate business to the Morlais Medical Centre.       
 
The information submitted with the application states that the primary function of the 
pharmacy would relate to the administration and dispensing of medication with a limited 
retail function of products defined within the Medicines Act 1968, which includes General 
Sales List Medicine (GSL), Pharmacy Medicines (PM), and Prescription Only Medicine 
(POM). Furthermore, it has been confirmed that the goods sold from the existing Pearn’s 
Pharmacy would continue to be sold at the proposed pharmacy.    
   
The proposal also involves the creation of a new entrance door with associated canopy and 
access/pathway (off Victoria Street) and the installation of an air conditioning unit. The 
proposed new entrance would consist of automatic sliding double doors, finished in dark 
brown aluminium to match the existing building. A 3 metre wide curved glass canopy, 
projecting 0.8 metres, would be fixed above the new entrance. The new entrance would be 
accessed off Victoria Street by a shallow stepped and ramped access with a 1 metre 
(maximum height) handrail. An air conditioning unit, measuring 0.9 metres, by 0.9 metres 
with a 0.6 metre depth, would be wall mounted to the eastern elevation, near ground level.  
           
It should be noted that a full planning application, P/16/0001, proposing a single storey 
extension to the medical centre is also being considered on this Committee agenda.    
 

Page 14



PLANNING HISTORY 
 
P/16/0001 – Single storey rear extension – This application appears on this Committee  
agenda. 
 
P/16/0002 – Erection of two illuminated signs – under consideration.  
 
P/08/0139 – Erection of two-storey rear extension, new vehicular parking access and 
parking – Approved: 3rd July 2008.  
  
CONSULTATION 
 
Engineering and Traffic Group Leader      No objection.   
 
Town Planning Division’s Policy  
and Implementation Group Leader     Objection.  
 
Environmental Health Manager       No objection.  
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
Order (Wales) 2012, nearby properties have been consulted and a site notice has been 
displayed in the immediate vicinity of the site. Six letters of representation have been 
received (from the same objector) as a result of this exercise. The planning related 
concerns raised in these letters have been summarised below: 
 
1 - The proposed development would have its own entrance and operate on a Saturday. 
The hours of opening are greater than any nearby pharmacy. It is not an ancillary function 
of the medical practice but a standalone retail/commercial unit. It lies outside the local 
centre and no justification has been provided; 
 
2 - The application does not justify a need for a third pharmacy in close proximity to this 
location. Three pharmacies are unsustainable and could result in unemployment at existing 
pharmacies. The limited justification given in the revised DAS does not warrant the 
relocation of the pharmacy outside the local centre. Retail sales and prescriptions figures 
are provided and the provision of a reduced retail element in the proposed pharmacy (given 
that some retail will still have to be provided by pharmacy regulations), reduces public 
choice and is located further from the centre, which is not a benefit especially to those with 
reduced mobility. 
 
3 – The justification relating to the sharing of software and staff referred to in the DAS is 
weak given that both situations do not necessitate the pharmacist being located in the same 
premises as the GPs. Whilst the Welsh Government guidance supports and encourages re-
location of pharmacies within surgeries, this refers to new build developments and not 
existing surgeries. The development would not meet Welsh Government guidance and 
should therefore not be a material planning consideration in favour of this application; 
 

Page 15



4 – The two pharmacies are located within the local centre and well served by the existing 
public car park. The proposed pharmacy would not be served by off road parking and 
should therefore be refused on highway safety grounds; 
 
5 - The development is contrary to LDP Policy AS18. No sequential test has been applied 
or submitted. The proposed pharmacy would still have to provide a retail element as part of 
the service it provides suggesting it is an A1 use, which is supported by appeal decisions (R 
v Maldon District Council ex parte Pattani (1998)). The revised DAS has attempted to justify 
the proposed use by an “amateur” sequential test and challenges the adopted boundary of 
the defined local centre in Dowlais, no reasoned justification has been provided that would 
support a recommendation departing from Policy AS18 in the adopted Development Plan; 

6 – The justification submitted for the proposed location of the pharmacy is weak and 
challengeable. The viability argument is unfounded as the Medical Centre would not require 
a pharmacy to make it sustainable. The plans of Pearn’s pharmacy show that it is poorly 
laid out and operated and the option of extending has not been considered;  

7 – The proposed plans indicate a smaller storage area for the proposed pharmacy which 
suggests increased frequency of deliveries, resulting in an impact to highway safety in 
terms of parking and use of pharmacy entrance;  

8 - The footfall argument is unsustainable as part of the building will be used as a pharmacy 
which will further increase congestion within the building as the loss of medical rooms to 
accommodate the pharmacy are not shown to be provided elsewhere;   

9 - The location of the existing pharmacies in close proximity to each other provides greater 
opportunity of choice to the public. Locating one pharmacy within the medical practice will 
most likely provide less choice;  

10 – The siting of the proposed pharmacy will take people away from the recognised retail 
area and linked trips may not materialise unlike at the moment where both pharmacies are 
located within the local centre; 

11 – The proposal goes against planning practice which recognised the importance of a 
vibrant local centre, which should not be diminished. This use outside the local centre 
would disadvantage existing businesses as footfall would be taken away from the centre; 

12 – Professional staff will need to be employed at the pharmacy (who are not currently 
employed by the Medical Centre). The number of new staff and parking requirements would 
add to the already severely constrained, over capacity, parking requirements of the medical 
practice as a whole; 
 
13 - The DAS states that the development is in accordance with policies BW17 and TB11 
referring to inclusivity and disabled access provision. However a disabled access is already 
provided at the entrance to the existing medical centre. Since, the development does not 
incorporate a community benefit it conflicts with Policy BW7 and TB11.  
 
14 – The access and air conditioning unit sited on a street frontage are unacceptable in 
their appearance and are contrary to policies;    
 
15 - The application is contrary to both the adopted plan policies and Planning Policy 
Wales. The applicant has not demonstrated that there is a need for the development and it 

Page 16



will cause a risk to highway safety which Members should not approve lightly.  Should 
Members be minded to grant planning permission then the access should be solely from 
within the Medical Practice not via a standalone pharmacy. The access proposed is wholly 
unnecessary and an incongruous feature in the landscape. The applications will not support 
the community business.    
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
National Planning Policy 
 
- Planning Policy Wales (PPW) (Edition 8, January 2016) 
 
Paragraph 2.1.2 refers to the consideration of planning applications and states that these 
must be ‘…determined in accordance with the adopted plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise…the LDP should show how places are expected to change in land-use 
terms to accommodate development needs over the plan period in order to provide 
certainty for developers and the public about the type of development that will be permitted 
at a particular location….’ 
 
Paragraph 4.11.9 refers to the appearance of new development and states that ‘…the 
visual appearance of proposed development, its scale and its relationship to its 
surroundings and context are material planning considerations. Local planning authorities 
should reject poor building and contextual designs…’ 
 
Paragraphs 10.1.1 and 10.1.2 refer to retailing and town centres and states that ‘… The 
Welsh Government’s objectives for retailing and town centres are: to secure accessible, 
efficient, competitive and innovative retail provision for all the communities of Wales, in both 
urban and rural areas; promote established town, district, local and village centres as the 
most appropriate locations for retailing, leisure and other complementary functions; 
enhance the vitality, attractiveness and viability of town, district, local and village centres; 
and to promote access to these centres by public transport, walking and cycling. Wherever 
possible this provision should be located in proximity to other commercial businesses, 
facilities for leisure, community facilities and employment. Town, district, local and village 
centres are the best locations for such provision at an appropriate scale. Such co-location 
of retail and other services in existing centres, with enhancement of access by walking, 
cycling and public transport, to provide the opportunity to use means of transport other than 
the car, will provide the greatest benefit to communities. This complementary mix of uses 
should also sustain and enhance the vitality, attractiveness and viability of those centres as 
well as contributing to a reduction of travel demand…’ 
 
Paragraph 10.1.3 defines vitality and businesses outside established centre. ‘…Vitality is 
reflected in how busy a centre is at different times and in different parts, and attractiveness 
in the facilities and character which draw in trade. Viability, on the other hand, refers to the 
ability of the centre to attract investment, not only to maintain the fabric but also to allow for 
improvement and adaptation to changing needs.  
 
Paragraphs 10.3.1 and 10.3.2 refer to Local Planning Authority considerations when 
determining such applications. ‘…When determining a planning application for retail, leisure 
or other uses best located in a town centre, including redevelopment, extensions or the 
variation of conditions, local planning authorities should take into account: compatibility with 

Page 17



any community strategy or up-to-date development plan strategy; need for the 
development/extension, unless the proposal is for a site within a defined centre or one 
allocated in an up-to-date development plan; the sequential approach to site selection; 
impact on existing centres; net gains in floorspace where redevelopment is involved, and 
whether or not it is like-for-like in terms of comparison or convenience; rate of take-up of 
allocations in any adopted development plan; accessibility by a variety of modes of travel; 
improvements to public transport; impact on overall travel patterns; and best use of land 
close to any transport hub, in terms of density and mixed use. This approach reinforces the 
role of centres as the best location for most retail/leisure activities. In contrast to the way in 
which locations outside existing centres are dealt with, consideration of the need for 
additional provision is not a matter that should be taken into account when proposals for 
uses best located in centres come forward. It is not the role of the planning system to 
restrict competition between retailers within centres…’ 
 
Paragraphs 10.2.10 and 10.3.3 refer to the identification of retail sites. ‘…In deciding 
whether to identify sites for retail and leisure developments, local planning authorities 
should in the first instance consider whether there is a need for additional provision for 
these uses. Such need may be quantitative so as to address a provable unmet demand for 
the provision concerned. Precedence should be given to establishing quantitative need for 
both convenience and comparison floorspace, particularly as a basis for development plan 
allocations before qualitative factors are brought into play. Qualitative assessment should 
cover both positive and negative implications…where need is a consideration, precedence 
should be accorded to establishing quantitative need. It will be for the decision-maker to 
determine and justify the weight to be given to any qualitative assessment, as outlined in 
paragraph 10.2.10. 
 
- Technical Advice Note 4: Retailing and Town Centres (November, 1996) 
 
Paragraph 8 refers to changes of use and states that ‘…sustaining the vitality of town 
centres depends on flexibility in the use of floor space…’ 
 
Technical Advice Notes (TAN): 
 
Paragraph 1.6 states that the purpose of the TAN ‘is to equip all those involved in the 
design of development with advice on how ‘Promoting sustainability through good design’ 
and Planning for sustainable building’ may be facilitated through the planning system’. 
 
Local Planning Policy 
 

Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021 
 

BW4: Settlement boundaries/locational constraints. 
AS4: Historic landscape. 
BW15: Community facilities. 
BW7: Sustainable design and place making. 
BW8: Development and the water environment. 
BW12: Development proposals and transport. 
AS18: Retail hierarchy 
TB11: Access, parking and accessibility. 

 
 

Page 18



- Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 
 
SPG Note 4 Sustainable Design (July 2013) 
 
Paragraphs 6.1, 6.2 and 6.3 refers to layout and connectivity and states that ‘…as Merthyr 
Tydfil’s built environment changes through development and regeneration, there continues 
to be opportunities to plan and design areas in ways that reduce the need to travel and 
ensure the effective use of more sustainable modes of transport…people’s travel choices 
are significantly influenced by the layout of a development and its links with surrounding 
street networks…the chosen layout and connection points of a new development should be 
informed by the findings of a contextual appraisal which considers the range of facilities and 
services in the neighbourhood; existing public transport services; it is important to consider 
how to create an inclusive built environment which meets the needs of all people regardless 
of age or ability. New developments should provide equal and convenient access for all 
potential users, including disabled people, older people, children and families. Routes 
should be kept as near to level as possible along their length and width as this will benefit 
wheelchair and pram users. A legible layout will also make it easier for people with sensory 
or cognitive impairment to work out where they are and where they are going…’ 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The issues to consider under this application relate to whether the proposed change of use 
of part of the Morlais Medical Centre for the provision of a pharmacy would be acceptable in 
this location and whether the associated new entrance (with canopy above), 
access/pathway off Victoria Street and the air conditioning unit would be acceptable with 
regards to their impact upon the character and appearance of the area. The impact of the 
proposal on residential amenity and highway and pedestrian safety are also important 
considerations.   
 
The proposed pharmacy would be located within the settlement boundary but outside the 
local retail centre as defined by the LDP. LDP Policy AS18 seeks to protect the vitality and 
viability of the local centre for the plan period 2011-2021 and requires an assessment of 
need to be undertaken for retail proposals that fall outside the Town Centre or local centres. 
Whilst the assessment should consider both quantitative and qualitative need, Planning 
Policy Wales (Edition 8, January 2016) is clear in that precedence should be given to 
establishing quantitative need. A quantitative need is an assessment of, amongst other 
things, available consumer expenditure to support the proposed floorspace. Qualitative 
need is a subjective consideration of how well existing facilities meet consumer demands, 
choice and locational preferences.  
 
The primary function of the proposed pharmacy would be administering and dispensing 
medicines. The Design and Access Statement (DAS) sets out and defines the three 
different categories of pharmacy sales (GSL, PM and POM) operating from the existing 
pharmacy and confirms that these categories of sales would operate from the proposed 
pharmacy. A recent visit to the existing pharmacy concluded that the goods sold amount to 
those noted in the above categories. The floor plan of the proposed pharmacy indicates that 
although the dispensing section would occupy a larger floor area, the designated retail area 
would be larger than that of the existing pharmacy, and has been calculated as having a 
retail area of approximately 34m² amounting to 35% of the total floor area of the proposed 
pharmacy. The DAS states that the retail sales associated with the existing Pearn’s 

Page 19



pharmacy amount to less than 2% of its total business. However, no evidence has been 
submitted to substantiate this figure and it is reasonable to assume that the retail sales at 
the proposed pharmacy would increase due to the larger retail area.  
 
In accordance with LDP Policy AS18, an assessment of need and sequential test was 
requested and submitted on 22nd April 2016 (as part of the amended DAS). A quantitative 
assessment of need was requested and a response was submitted on 16th May 2016. The 
agent also submitted additional information in support of the application on 7th June 2016. 
This additional information is summarised below. 
 
The amended DAS (received on 22nd April 2016) 
 
In considering the ‘need’ for the development the agent points out that Pearn’s Pharmacy 
(at no. 30, Victoria Street) is in poor condition and has a limited floor space of 51m². As 
such, the agent argues that the premises is failing to meet current demand and is struggling 
to provide an efficient customer service due to the current volume of business. The agent 
also confirms that pharmacies are contractually not able to close periodically to allow for 
refurbishment works. As such, it is stated that the re-location to a larger unit would be 
necessary in this instance to allow the pharmacy to continue to function. The DAS also 
provides further justification for the proposed development by stating that an integrated 
healthcare system is encouraged by Welsh Government (as highlighted in a 2001 report 
‘Improving Health in Wales’).  
 
The DAS also confirms that a site visit by the agent on the 20th April 2016 identified that 
there are currently no existing retail premises in the local centre available to let or purchase. 
Furthermore, the applicant contends that regardless of the suitability of other sites in the 
local centre, the aim of this development is to provide an integrated pharmacy within the 
Morlais Medical Centre in accordance with the above Welsh Government guidance. It 
concludes that there are no sequentially preferable sites within the boundary of the local 
centre and that the proposed location of the pharmacy is a suitable and viable option at the 
edge of the local centre.  
 
Additional information received on 16th May 2016. 
 
The agent points out that a quantitative assessment was not carried out in this instance due 
to the nature of the proposal and the fact that the customer facing/retail area of the 
replacement pharmacy would only be 5m² larger than the existing pharmacy (increasing 
from 29m² to 34m²). The agent has also confirmed that less than 2% of transactions involve 
a money transfer and as such a detailed breakdown of expenditure of pharmaceuticals was 
not required because the wider issues are of more significance (e.g. the sustainability of the 
current pharmacy (Pearn’s) should it not relocate and the long term viability of the medical 
centre without the relocation of the pharmacy). The agent concludes by stating that the 
viability and vitality of the retail centre would not be harmed as this proposal would result in 
a more attractive site near the local centre and encourage more development into the area. 
It is also suggested that as well as retaining footfall, the proposal would encourage linked 
trips and provide additional choice and competition as well as encouraging an alternative 
retail use to occupy the existing site (Pearn’s Pharmacy).        
 
 
 

Page 20



Additional information received on 7th June 2016. 
 
The agent has pointed out that the anticipated growth in prescriptions would require 
additional dispensing staff to be employed in order to support the growth of the business 
and receive practice payment (which all pharmacies are entitled to receive provided they 
meet minimum dispensing staff levels), which could not be accommodated in the existing 
building. As such, the agent concludes that ‘…prescription volumes in Wales are growing at 
a rate of 0.8% each year…the pharmacy is therefore limited by the size of the premises and 
the number of staff they can physically fit into the premises at any one time, and within 5 
years, given a growth of 0.8% per annum prescriptions dispensed, they will not be able to 
provide the staff to receive the full practice payment remuneration they are due. Continued 
use of unsuitable premises is not a sustainable solution…’  The agent also confirms that the 
existing pharmacy cannot (due to its size) accommodate the furniture required for 
dispensary purposes and emphasises (by comparing Pearn’s Pharmacy and its relocation 
into the Morlais Medical Centre) that the dispensing function dominates the use of the 
proposed pharmacy.   
 
Assessment of Need 
 
It is acknowledged that the 2001 report, ‘Improving Health in Wales’ prepared by the then 
Welsh Assembly’s Health and Well Being Team, encourages the ‘… development of a 
partnership approach to medicines management between the patient, GP’s and the 
pharmacist, a closer working between GP’s and community pharmacist to ensure that skills 
are used in a complementary and synergistic way and develop pharmacy premises to 
enable the provision of a wider range of services in a confidential way…’ Although this 
report encourages closer working relationships between pharmacies and GP’s, it does not 
state that they have to co-locate to make the connections work successfully. Furthermore, it 
would appear to be somewhat outdated as it was published in 2001. 
 
Policy AS18, states that since the pharmacy would be outside the local centre a strict 
application of a sequential test is required to support the application. The application of the 
sequential test in this instance would mean going through a sequence of ‘tests’ for site 
selection to determine the most appropriate location for this retail development. Essentially, 
this would first require that the retail use is located in the local centre. If this is not possible, 
the sequential test should demonstrate this, and the retail use should be directed towards 
an edge of centre location. This aims to ensure that trade is not drawn away from the local 
centre and therefore that the vitality and viability of the town centre is not adversely affected 
as a result of this proposal. As noted above, the agent states that the existing site is limited 
and there are no other suitable sites in the designated local centre for the expected growth, 
as such, the agent is heavily reliant on the relocation of the pharmacy. However, the agent 
does not refer to the potential opportunities available for the re-arrangement of the internal 
layout of the existing pharmacy to create a larger and enhanced layout. In addition, no 
evidence has been submitted to explore what opportunities, if any, are available for 
extending the premises. Indeed, a re-configured (internal layout) Pearn’s pharmacy is a 
sequential alternative which exists within the local centre, however, other than this existing 
site (Pearn’s pharmacy), it is accepted (following consideration of the most recent retail 
survey in October 2015 and a recent site visit) that there are no other vacant units within 
the local centre. It is therefore considered that a sequential test, albeit weak, has been 
carried out in respect of this proposal. As such, the proposed development complies, in 
part, with LDP Policy AS18.    

Page 21



 
As noted above a quantitative assessment of retail need has not been undertaken as the 
agent stressed that such an assessment is not considered appropriate due to the small 
scale and limited retail nature of the proposal. The main consideration in demonstrating 
qualitative need relates to whether the proposal addresses a current deficiency in the 
distribution and range of retail stores which meets the needs of the community. The 
applicant has demonstrated this given that the community is currently served by two 
existing pharmacies (Pearn’s Pharmacy and Dowlais Pharmacy) within the local area. The 
benefits of relocating the pharmacy to Morlais Medical Centre are not therefore considered 
to be qualitative need factors in retail policy terms, although are material considerations in 
making a decision on the planning application. As such, the proposal has not been 
supported by an assessment of need and therefore fails to comply with of LDP Policy AS18.  
 

Policy AS18, in addition to requiring an assessment of need and sequential test, also states 
that ‘…proposals will then only be permitted where they avoid causing harm to town/local 
centre vitality and viability…’ The proposed pharmacy would lie at the edge of the local 
centre, approximately 25 metres from the local centre boundary and 40 metres from the 
existing Pearn’s Pharmacy. The proposed retail element of the pharmacy would be 
approximately 5m² larger than the retail element of the existing pharmacy and the relocation 
of the pharmacy would lead to the vacancy of a retail unit within the Dowlais local centre. It 
is considered that the additional retail space within the proposed pharmacy alone is unlikely 
to harm the vitality and viability of the local centre. However, it is noted that the relocation of 
the pharmacy would gain a competitive advantage over the existing pharmacy, given its co-
location to Morlais Medical Centre. The use of the proposed pharmacy is therefore 
considered to result in a concentration of customers outside the local centre. As a result, it 
is considered that footfall entering the local centre would be reduced and therefore would 
not result in linked trips due to the combined doctors, prescriptions and retail services which 
would be available at Morlais Medical Centre.  
 

Concerns have also been raised regarding the vacancy of an A1 unit in the local centre. 
Whilst there are no other vacant units in the local area, it would seem likely that the unit 
could be quickly occupied by an alternative business. However this is not guaranteed, 
particularly given its location on the extreme boundary of the designated local centre. The 
vacancy of this unit could prevent the upkeep of the building and potentially lead to the 
decline of the premises overtime, making it less desirable and therefore more difficult to 
let/sell in the future. It may also lead to applications for residential development to 
guarantee the upkeep of the building, which if permitted would result in the permanent loss 
of this retail unit. As a result, the proposed development could result in a vacant retail unit 
and reduced footfall in the local centre, which would harm the vitality, attractiveness and 
viability of the Dowlais local centre and therefore fails to comply with LDP Policy AS18.      
 

Character and Appearance 
 

The design and materials of the sliding entrance door would match the existing fenestration 
and would therefore adhere to the appearance of the existing premises. This separate 
entrance would be framed by a curved glass canopy, which would add interest to this 
elevation and complement the existing building. Although the stepped and ramped access 
would result in the loss of some landscaping, it would not dominate this part of the building 
and would be visually acceptable. With regards to the air conditioning unit, this would 
comprise a standard size unit which would be wall mounted close to ground level. Although 
proposed to be fixed to a primary façade, this would be screened by the existing 

Page 22



landscaping adjacent this eastern elevation and would therefore not adversely impact upon 
the appearance of the premises.   
 

The proposed development would therefore comply with LDP Policies BW7 and TB11.         
 

Residential Amenity  
 

Given its location within an existing building and distance from surrounding residential 
properties, the proposal would not give rise to any significant disturbance or nuisances to 
residential occupiers. It is noted that there have been no objections in this respect and the 
Environmental Health Manager has not raised an objection to this application. Thus, the 
proposed development would not adversely impact upon the private amenities of nearby 
residents and would comply with LDP Policy BW7.  
 

Parking and Highway Safety  
 

The proposed change of use would result in an independent pharmacy business operating 
from part of the Morlais Medical Centre. An on-site parking area is provided to the 
southwest of the premises, comprising 18 parking spaces (two of which are disabled 
spaces). This facility would be adequate to cater for the needs of the medical centre and 
proposed pharmacy. In addition, the application site lies within a sustainable location and 
within close proximity to modes of transport other than the private car (e.g. bus routes). The 
Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has considered the parking and highway safety 
implications of the proposal, and although the concerns of the objector relating to 
indiscriminate parking on Victoria Street (by the public, staff and delivery lorries) and its 
impact on congestion and visibility to other road users are noted, he has raised no objection 
to the proposal. As such, it is not considered that the proposed change of use and 
associated works would give rise to highway/pedestrian safety concerns or impinge the free 
flow of traffic in the area. It would therefore comply with LDP Policies BW12 and TB11.      
 

Response to Representations   
 

Many of the concerns raised by the objector have been considered above. With regard to 
the other issues raised, these are addressed below: 
 
With regard to point 2 of the objectors concerns, this proposed development does not 
necessarily result in the creation of a third pharmacy. The existing pharmacy (Pearn’s) 
could be used for any shop which falls within Use Class A1 without the need for planning 
permission.  
 
The internal reconfiguration (point 8 above of the objectors concerns) of Morlais Medical 
Centre (for medical centre use), would not require planning permission. 
 
Conclusion 
 
It is considered that the proposed external alterations are acceptable in terms of their scale, 
design and finishes. However, it is considered that the proposed co-location of the 
pharmacy outside of the Dowlais retail centre boundary, whilst not having raised any 
significant concerns in terms of highway safety, could have a significant adverse impact on 
the vitality and viability of local centre and would therefore fail to comply with LDP Policy 
AS18.          

Page 23



 
RECOMMENDATION: BE REFUSED 
 
 1. The applicant has failed to provide an adequate retail assessment to demonstrate a 

need for the provision of a pharmacy outside of the Dowlais local centre. As such, 
the proposed change of use is contrary to Policy AS18 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan as it could cause harm to the vitality and viability of the local 
centre. 

  
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



 
            

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/15/0204 3rd November 2016 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Residential Development Trebeddau Farm 

Mountain Hare 
Penheolferthyr 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0LH 

Mrs D Roberts  
c/o Mr W. Scorey 
1 Glanynys Cottages 
Cwmbach Road 
Aberdare 
CF44 0NN    

 
 
APPLICATION SITE 
 
This application relates to an irregular shaped area of land measuring approximately 0.57 
hectares. The main part of the site accommodates Trebeddau Farm and a number of 
outbuildings within its curtilage. A large proportion of the site comprises grassland with a 
hedgerow and mature trees along the eastern boundary and a hedgerow along part of the 
western boundary. The application site also includes the private access lane serving 
Trebeddau Farm, which extends behind the rear gardens of No’s 2 to 22 Hawthorne Drive 
and links to Elm Tree Grove to the north. 
 
The site is bound to the north and east by adjoining residential properties that form part of 
Hawthorne Drive and Oak Tree Rise respectively. To the west and south of the site is an 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



area of undeveloped land, which is allocated (H29) in the Local Development Plan for 
residential development. 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Outline planning permission is sought for the residential development of the site. All matters 
relating to access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale have been reserved for 
future consideration. 
 
An indicative layout plan has been submitted in support of this application, which illustrates 
a potential scheme for five detached dwellings located within a central position of the site. 
In order to accommodate a potential scheme for five dwellings the existing farm house and 
outbuildings would need to be demolished. The dwellings would potentially have a linear 
arrangement that extends the built form of Hawthorne Drive to the south with the front 
elevations having a westerly orientation. The indicative plan illustrates that the existing 
access to the site would be utilised and could be enhanced to create a wider carriageway 
with a footway along one side. Additionally, off-street parking could be accommodated 
within each plot. 
 
The Design and Access Statement indicates that the upper and lower scale parameters for 
each of the proposed dwellings would be 7m – 9m wide by 10m – 14m deep and 8m – 10m 
high. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
P/05/0160 - Erection of 4 dwellings (outline) 
 
   REFUSED permission on 21.09.2005 for the following reason: 
 

1. The development/layout of the plots forming the application site is 
considered inappropriate having regard to the siting of the parent 
farmhouse (and outbuildings) and the layout and character of the 
adjoining residential development (currently under construction) 
and, as such, is contrary to the aims and objectives of Policy H2 of 
the Merthyr Tydfil Borough Local Plan. 

 

P/05/0159 - Erection of detached garage and block of sheds. 
 

   Permission GRANTED on 21.07.2005 
 
P/01/0275 - Construction of two storey extension. 
 

   Permission GRANTED on 30.08.2001 
 
CONSULTATION 
 

Engineering and Traffic 
Group Leader   - No objection subject to conditions relating to  

access, ground conditions and drainage. 

Page 26



 
Planning Division’s 
Policy & Implementation 
Group Leader   - No objection. 
 
Planning Division’s 
Landscape Architect  - No response. 
 
Environmental Health Manager - No objection subject to a condition relating to  

contaminated land. 
 
Glamorgan Gwent  
Archaeological Trust  - No objection. 
 
The Coal Authority   - No objection subject to a condition relating to site  

investigation works. 
 
Welsh Water    - No objection subject to conditions relating to foul,  

surface water and land drainage. 
 
Wales & West Utilities  - No objection. 
 
Western Power Distribution - No response. 
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town & Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Wales) Order 2012, two site notices were displayed within the vicinity of the site, letters 
were sent to neighbouring properties and a press notice was displayed in the local 
newspaper. 
 
As a result of this publicity exercise 5 letters of objection were received, which raised the 
following concerns: 
 

 It is highlighted that there is knotweed within the site that needs to be appropriately 
treated. 

 Concerns that the detailed design of the development will significantly differ to that 
indicatively shown in the current proposal. 

 There would be potential for overlooking into neighbouring properties and the 
existing trees along the eastern boundary of the site should be retained. 

 The additional traffic from the development would exacerbate highway safety 
concerns at the roundabout on Twynyrodyn Road. 

 There are protected species in the area, namely bats and buzzards which may be 
disturbed by the development. 

 There are concerns over whether the existing drainage system has the capacity to 
accommodate additional dwellings. 

 The removal of the existing gate along the access road serving the site may enable 
nuisance behaviour and fly tipping to occur in the area. 

 The development of the site would diminish the views from the properties along Oak 
Tree Rise. 

Page 27



 The construction noise from the development would result in disturbance to existing 
residents. 

 The area has been subjected to past mining operations and there are concerns over 
the ground stability of the site. 

 There is a culvert in the area that may affected by the development. 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
The following policies are relevant to the determination of this application: 
 
National planning policy 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW), Edition 9, November 2016: 
 
Section 4.11 – Promoting sustainability through good design 
 
Para 4.11.9 – 4.11.12 sets out the principles of good design in new development proposals, 
which should take into account its relationship to its surrounding context. Regard should be 
given to the appropriate scale, appearance, landscaping and quality of building design and 
should also be accessible for all. 
 
Section 5.5 - Development management and the conservation and improvement of the 
natural heritage 
 
Para 5.5.1 – 5.5.3 notes that the impact a development proposal may have on wildlife or the 
landscape is an important consideration in determining applications. Where ever possible 
adverse effects on the environment should be avoided or acceptably minimised. 
 
Section 8.7 – Development management and transport 
 
Para 8.7.1 sets out the criterion that should be considered where transport implications may 
occur, such as impacts on local travel demand, public transport provision, accessibility and 
highway safety. 
 
Section 9.3 – Development management and housing 
 
Para 9.3.1 – 9.3.4 highlights that new housing schemes should be well integrated with and 
connect to the existing patterns of settlements. Sensitive infilling of small groups of houses, 
or minor extensions to groups may be acceptable, though much will depend upon the 
character of the surroundings. In determining applications for new housing, particular 
regard shall be given to the area’s character, amenity and density. High quality design and 
landscaping standards are also important. 
 
Local planning policy 
 
Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021: 
 

 Policy BW1 - Development strategy – Primary Growth Area. 

 Policy BW4 - Settlement boundaries / locational constraints. 

 Policy BW5 - Natural heritage. 

Page 28



 Policy BW7 - Sustainable design and place making. 

 Policy BW8 - Development and the water environment. 

 Policy BW12 - Development proposals and transport. 

 Policy BW17 - Securing community infrastructure benefits. 

 Policy AS4 - Historic landscape. 

 Policy AS22 - Affordable housing contributions. 

 Policy TB9 - Mineral buffer zones. 

 Policy TB11 - Access, parking and accessibility of local facilities. 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG): 
 

 SPG1 - Affordable Housing, March 2012. 

 SPG2 - Planning Obligations, March 2012. 

 SPG4 - Sustainable design, July 2013. 

 SPG5 - Nature and Development, May 2015. 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Land use 
 
The application site is located within the settlement boundary and Primary Growth Area as 
defined by the LDP, where the majority of new development is generally encouraged. As 
such, the development of the site for residential purposes is considered to be acceptable in 
principle. Additionally, the site lies on the fringe of a 500m wide mineral buffer zone 
established on the Ffos Y Fran open cast mine. It is considered that the development of the 
site would not be adversely affected by Ffos Y Fran, nor would it impact on the mineral 
operations of open cast mine. In this respect, the extraction zone of Ffos Y Fran has 
progressed further away from the site and the existing residential properties in the vicinity 
since works began several years ago. Therefore the principle of the development is 
considered to be acceptable and complies with policies BW1, BW4 and TB9 of the LDP. 
 
Design 
 
Whilst matters relating to layout, scale and appearance of the development have been 
reserved for future consideration, an indicative layout plan has been submitted in support of 
the application. The layout plan indicates the proposed dwellings could be located to the 
side of the existing properties in Hawthorne Drive with the front elevations orientated to the 
west in a similar manner to the existing farm house. 
 
It is considered that the site is of a sufficient size to accommodate a potential scheme for 5 
dwellings that appropriately responds to the context of the area, with adequate private 
amenity space and off-street parking provision. The scale parameters for the 
minimum/maximum width, depth and height of the dwellings, are considered to be 
acceptable and would enable the detailed design of the development (as part of a reserved 
matters application) to provide an appropriate response to the surrounding context. 
 
Subject to the detailed design of the development being considered as part of a reserved 
matters application, it is considered that the site can be developed without adversely 

Page 29



impacting on the character and appearance of the area. Therefore, the proposal complies 
with policy BW7 of the LDP. 
 
Amenities 
 
The properties which adjoin the site to the north and east (Hawthorne Drive and Oak Tree 
Rise) have the greatest potential to be affected by the proposed development. The 
indicative layout plan suggests that the dwellings could be located to the side of the existing 
properties on Hawthorne Drive to avoid any direct overlooking into neighbouring garden 
areas. Furthermore, the proposed dwellings could be located a suitable distance (at least 
21m) away from the properties along Oak Tree Rise. The retention of the existing trees 
along the eastern boundary of the site would also offer some additional screening to the 
adjoining gardens.  
 
It is acknowledged that local residents have raised concerns in respect of the impacts from 
construction noise and the loss of views. The noise impact from the construction works 
would be temporary in nature and would not constitute a sufficient reason to refuse this 
application. However, a condition could be attached to any permission to limit the hours of 
construction to reasonable times. The potential impact on the views from neighbouring 
properties is not a material planning consideration. Furthermore, concerns have been 
raised in respect of the removal of a bar-gate along the access lane, which helps reduce 
anti-social behaviour and fly tipping in the area. At this stage no specific details have been 
provided in relation to the works to the access lane. Notwithstanding this, the development 
of additional housing along the lane would improve natural surveillance in the area. 
 
It is considered that the proposed dwellings could be appropriately positioned within the site 
without adversely impacting on residential amenity in terms of loss of privacy or overbearing 
impacts. Therefore, the proposal complies with policy BW7 of the LDP. 
 
Highways and drainage 
 
At present the private access lane serving the site is only capable of accommodating single 
lane traffic with limited opportunity for vehicles to pass. The indicative plans suggest that 
the lane could be increased in width to meet private road standards with a 2m wide footway 
along one side. Whilst specific details of any improvements to the access lane have been 
reserved for future consideration, it is considered that a suitable means of access can be 
accommodated to serve up to 5 dwellings. It is acknowledged that the Engineering and 
Traffic Group Leader has not raised any highway/pedestrian safety concerns in respect of 
the additional traffic movements along the private lane or the wider highway network, 
including the roundabout on Twynyrodyn Road. Therefore, it is considered that a suitable 
access can be provided and the development would comply with policies BW12 and TB11 
of the LDP. 
 
It is noted that concerns have been raised by local residents in respect of the capacity of 
the existing drainage system to accommodate additional dwellings. It is noted that Welsh 
Water has not raised any capacity issues with the existing drainage system in the area. 
However, both Welsh Water and the Engineering and Traffic Group Leader have requested 
details of the proposed drainage scheme be provided before works commence on site, 
which can be secured by condition. Whilst it has been reported by one of the residents that 
a culvert crosses through the site, there is no evidence to substantiate this claim. The 

Page 30



Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has also not raised any such concerns. Therefore it 
is considered that the development of the site would not have an adverse impact on the 
water environment. Therefore the proposal complies with policy BW8 of the LDP. 
 
Ground conditions 
 
The application site lies within an area identified by The Coal Authority to be at high risk to 
past coal mining operations. As such, a Mining Risk Assessment has been submitted in 
support of the application. It is noted in the assessment that there is disused mine adit 
located near the northern part of the access road and a disused mine shaft located within 
plot 5 at the southern part of the site. The assessment concludes that a further intrusive site 
investigation is required to both establish the precise location of the mine entries and to 
inform the necessary mitigation measures. It is acknowledged that The Coal Authority is 
satisfied with the Mining Risk Assessment and has raised no objection to the development, 
subject to a condition for further intrusive investigations to be carried out. Therefore, it is 
considered that with appropriate mitigation, the stability of the site can be made safe for 
redevelopment. 
 
Ecology 
 
An ecological survey was initially submitted which indicated that the site consisted of a 
number of suitable habitats for reptiles and bats. As such, a further Summer Bat Survey 
and an Amphibian & Reptile Survey were commissioned. It was concluded in these surveys 
that there was no evidence of bats using the site and no amphibians or reptiles were found. 
However, it was noted in the reports that the existing trees along the eastern boundary of 
the site could be used for foraging bats and should ideally be retained as part of the 
development. The Planning Division’s Countryside Officer is satisfied that an appropriate 
assessment of the site has been carried out and has not raised any objection to the 
development. 
 
Whilst concerns have been raised by local residents over the potential impact on protected 
species, the survey assessments submitted in support of the application indicate that no 
such impacts are likely to occur. It is noted that neighbouring residents wish to ensure that 
the existing trees within the site are retained and any knotweed is appropriately removed. 
Matters relating to the potential landscaping of the site have been reserved for future 
consideration. However a condition can be attached to any permission to ensure a scheme 
for the eradication of knotweed is agreed before works commence on site. 
 
It is considered that the development of the site would not have an adverse impact on 
protected species or the natural environment. Therefore the proposal complies with policy 
BW5 of the LDP. 
 
Planning obligations 
 
The requirement for an affordable housing contribution or any other appropriate planning 
obligations has been assessed by the Planning Division’s Policy and Implementation Group 
Leader using the Three Dragons Toolkit. In this instance no such planning obligations have 
been sought as this would likely render the development financially unviable. Therefore, the 
proposal complies with policies BW17 and AS22 of the LDP. 
 

Page 31



CONCLUSIONS 
 
For the above reasons it is considered that the proposed development is acceptable and 
complies with the relevant LDP policies. Accordingly, the following recommendation is 
made: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS: 
 

 1. Details of the access, appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale, (hereinafter called 
"the reserved matters") shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before any development begins and the development shall be 
carried out as approved. 

  

 Reason -  To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
and Part (3)1 of the Town and Country Planning (General Development Procedure) 
(Amendment) (Wales) Order 2012. 

 

 2. Any application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority not later than three years from the date of this permission. 

  

 Reason -  To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
and Part (3)1 of the Town and Country Planning (General Development Procedure) 
(Amendment) (Wales) Order 2012. 

 

 3. The development shall begin either before the expiration of five years from the date 
of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of approval of 
the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later. 

  

 Reason -  To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
and Part (3)1 of the Town and Country Planning (General Development Procedure) 
(Amendment) (Wales) Order 2012. 

 

 4. Along with the submission of the statutory "reserved matters" details required by 
Condition 1, a report on the results of the site investigation and gas monitoring 
exercise as recommended in the Mining Risk Assessment (Report No. 
BC/MB/06.15.01), together with a plan identifying the precise location of any mine 
entries, shall be submitted to the local planning authority. The report shall specify 
any measures to be taken to remediate the site to render it suitable for the 
development, as well as a scheme for the treatment of the recorded mine entries on 
site and the definition of a suitable 'no-build' zone. The remedial measures shall be 
carried out in accordance with the details approved in the report. 

  

 Reason - The site may be unstable and as such in the interests of safety remedial 
measures may need to be carried out. 

 

 5. No development shall commence until details of a scheme for the disposal of foul 
and surface water has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the occupation of the dwelling and retained in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason - To ensure adequate disposal of foul and surface water drainage in 

accordance with Policy BW8 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

Page 32



 
 6. Prior to the occupation of any dwelling hereby approved a plan indicating the 

positions, height, design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected 
shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. The boundary 
treatment shall be completed as approved before the dwellings are occupied. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive and 

boundaries protected in the interests of amenity in accordance with Policy BW7 of 
the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 7. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall 

be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of 
the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any 
trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 8. Before any works commence on site, a site survey shall be undertaken to identify 

any occurrence of Japanese Knotweed within the application site boundary.  In the 
event that Japanese Knotweed is identified, a scaled site survey shall be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority identifying the location and extent of all strands or 
occurrence of Japanese Knotweed and this shall be accompanied by a Japanese 
Knotweed strategy setting out the procedures to ensure the complete eradication of 
the Japanese Knotweed.  These shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the Local Planning Authority.  Any works subsequently carried out shall be in strict 
accordance with such details as may be approved and no development shall 
commence until the Japanese Knotweed has been completely eradicated from the 
site. 

  
 Reason - To prevent the spread of the highly invasive species and to ensure 

compliance with the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
 9. Construction works shall not take place outside the hours of 08:00 to 18:00 Mondays 

to Fridays and 09:00 to 14:00 on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Public 
Holidays. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the noise emitted/activities are not a source of nuisance to 

occupants of nearby properties in accordance with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil 
Local Development Plan. 

 
INFORMATIVES  
 
 1. The grant of planning permission does not entitle developers to obstruct a public 

right of way. Enforcement action may be taken against any person who obstructs or 
damages a right of way. Development, in so far as it affects a right of way, should 
not be started; and the right of way should be kept open for public use until the 

Page 33



necessary order under s.247 or s.257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
for the diversion or extinguishment of the right of way has come into effect. Nor 
should it be assumed that because planning permission has been granted an order 
will invariably be made or confirmed. If you need help or advice concerning the 
diversion or extinguishment order you should contact the Rights of Way Division on 
01685 726225 email: cheryl.jones@merthyr.gov.uk. 

 
 2. The applicant /  developer is advised to contact The Coal Authority on 01623 637 

119 regarding any necessary permits required before any intrusive site investigations 
are carried out, including those relating to the recorded mine entries. 

 
 3. The applicant / developer should ensure that the existing trees/hedgerow along the 

eastern boundary of the site are retained and incorporated as part of the proposed 
landscaping scheme, which is to be submitted as part of a reserved matters 
application. Details of how they would be protected during the development of the 
site should also be provided. 

 
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 
 

Page 34



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL RECEIVED  
 

DATE WRITTEN 19 December 2016 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Marlene Ferreira 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 4 January 2017 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/16/0283 13.07.2016 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 
Applicant/Agent 

   

Construction of new dwelling 
with attached garage 

Plot 10 
Former Sandbrook Day 
Centre 
Queens Road 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil  CF47 0ES 

Mr B Richards 
c/o K J Lloyd Architect 
F.a.o. Mr K Lloyd 
49 Coed Y Pia 
Kenneth 
Llanbradach  CF83 3PT 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/A/16/3164271 
DATE APPEAL RECEIVED:  2 DECEMBER 2016 
 

ELLIS COOPER 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL DECISION 
 

DATE WRITTEN 19 December 2016 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Marlene Ferreira  

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 4 January 2017 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/16/0041 04.02.2016 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 
Applicant/Agent 

   

Erection of 3 storey 
dwelling (Outline) 

Land At Bryntirion Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 

Mr Graham Wilkins 
c/o Stephen George Architects 
25 Courtland Terrace 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0DT 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/A/16/3157980 
DATE DECISION RECEIVED:  14 DECEMBER 2016 
DECISION:    DISMISSED 
 

 
ELLIS COOPER 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



 

Page 38



 

Page 39



 
 
 

Page 40



FOR INFORMATION 

 

DELEGATED DECISION REPORT LIST:  1 – 30 NOVEMBER 2016 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/16/0200 Plot 4 
Former Sandbrook 
Day Centre  
Queens Road 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0ES 
 

Detached dwelling with attached garage Full Approval 02/11/2016 

P/16/0228 2A Victoria Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Conversion of first and second floors 
from retail use to 2 No. self contained 
flats, alterations to existing windows, 
creation of new windows and insertion 
of new door 
 

Full Approval 01/11/2016 

P/16/0258 28 Tair Twynau 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2BA 

Erection of front porch and rear single 
storey extension, demolition of existing 
side annexe and erection of new side 
extension, removal of profiled metal 
sheeting to external elevations and 
provision of new insulated block cavity 
wall skin with painted render finish and 
other minor alterations, and erection of 
shed in rear garden 
 

Full Approval 22/11/2016 

P/16/0263 20A Sweetwater Park 
Trefechan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2LF 
 

Proposed two storey extension to side 
of property 

Full Approval 07/11/2016 

P/16/0283 Plot 10 
Former Sandbrook 
Day Centre 
Queens Road 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0ES 

Construction of new dwelling with 
attached garage 

Refusal 07/11/2016 

DATE WRITTEN 19 December 2016 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Various 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 4 January 2016 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/16/0284 Land At Prospect 
Bungalow 
A4060 Leos 
Roundabout To 
Mountain Hare 
Roundabout 
Northbound 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Residential Development for 5 houses 
(Outline) 

Outline 
Approval 

07/11/2016 

P/16/0291 13 Upper Colliers Row 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1UN 
 

Apply pebble dash render and paint on 
front elevation 

Listed Building 
Approval 

28/11/2016 

P/16/0292 Canolfan Soar 
Pontmorlais  
High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8UB 
 

Sculpture tree at entrance Full Approval 23/11/2016 

P/16/0293 Canolfan Soar To 
Redhouse 
Pontmorlais 
High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8UB 
 

Paving trail 61 bronze plaques Full Approval 23/11/2016 

P/16/0294 Ty Penderyn 
Lower Ground Floor 
26 High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8DP 
 

Change of use from restaurant (A3 use 
class) to training rooms (D1 use class) 

Full Approval 08/11/2016 

P/16/0298 22 Alexandra Road 
Penydarren 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9AG 

Increase the height of the roof to 
provide accommodation within the roof 
space and new attached garage to 
replace the existing 
 

Full Approval 14/11/2016 

P/16/0302 37 Gwaelodygarth 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8YY 
 

Erection of front porch, rear dormer 
and external flue 

Refusal 17/11/2016 

 

 

Page 42



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/16/0303 Marks And Spencer 
12F Cyfarthfa Retail 
Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Installation of a temporary refrigerated 
unit 

Full Approval 03/11/2016 

P/16/0307 96 High Street 
(The Anchor Public 
House) 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8UD 
 

Retrospective planning permission for 
the creation of a bedsit within the attic 
space 

Full Approval 16/11/2016 

P/16/0308 Ty Homfray  
Alexandra Avenue  
Tramroad Lane 
Penydarren 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9AF 
 

New perimeter fencing Full Approval 16/11/2016 

P/16/0313 55 The Hawthorns 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2EJ 
 

Conversion of garage and living 
accommodation (utility room) 

Full Approval 09/11/2016 

P/16/0314 Cyfarthfa Park 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Two 10 metre high flagpoles Advertisement 
Approval 

07/11/2016 

P/16/0316 Unit 1A  
Cyfarthfa Industrial 
Estate 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8PE 

Subdivide unit to provide a vehicle 
repair garage with associated works to 
include the installation of two roller 
shutters, lay tarmac courtyard, accesses 
and new parking provision (change of 
use from light industrial/storage B1/B8 
to B2 use class) 
 

Full Approval 25/11/2016 

P/16/0317 Tir Cook Farm 
Bungalow 
Treharris 
CF46 5RN 
 

Erection of single storey rear extension 
with living accommodation in the roof 
space, new dormer window in front 
roof plane and other minor alterations 

Full Approval 09/11/2016 

P/16/0318 8 Dixon Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8LH 
 

Demolition of existing ground floor rear 
extension and construction of a two 
storey kitchen and bedroom extension 

Full Approval 16/11/2016 

 

Page 43



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/16/0319 4 Bishops Grove 
Penydarren 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9LJ 
 

Single storey extension to the side and 
rear 

Full Approval 23/11/2016 

P/16/0321 Unit 2 
Mill Court 
Goat Mill Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3TD 
 

Change of use from a salt store to a 
highway maintenance facility with 
ancillary office accommodation.  
Provision of two up and over doors in 
the northern elevation.  Provision of 
external storage areas including fuel 
storage tanks.  Creation of new 
vehicular access along with eastern 
boundary and provision of internal 
roads, additional  hard standing areas, 
a weigh bridge, vehicle wash down 
facility, external lighting and associated 
works 
 

Full Approval 22/11/2016 

P/16/0328 15 Penybryn View 
Incline Top 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0GB 
 

Erection of single storey rear extension 
and creation of new parking area to 
front of dwelling 

Full Approval 22/11/2016 

P/16/0329 Land Opposite  
1 Pleasant View 
Bedlinog 
Treharris 
CF46 6SF 
 

Demolition of 2 No. single garages and 
erection of 1 No. double garage, 
construction of retaining wall and 
change of use of land for residential 
purposes 

Full Approval 24/11/2016 

P/16/0331 Tesco Stores Ltd 
Tramroad Side North 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Installation of new signage Advertisement 
Approval 

28/11/2016 

P/16/0332 La Roche  
Pentwyn Road 
Treharris 
CF46 5BS 

Demotion of exiting garage and single 
storey rear annexes, erection of two 
storey side extension with balcony to 
rear, single storey rear extension and 
single storey front extension and other 
external alterations 
 

Full Approval 29/11/2016 

P/16/0333 3 The Rise 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2BN 

Single storey extension to provide 
ground floor w.c. for use by a disabled 
person 

Certificate of 
Law Granted 

02/11/2016 

Page 44



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/16/0334 15 Market Square 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8DG 
 

Freestanding media tv screen window 
display 

Full Approval 28/11/2016 

P/16/0336 49 Bridge Street 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4DX 
 

Change of use of ground floor from 
hairdressers (A1 use class) to dog 
groomers (Sui Generis) 

Full Approval 29/11/2016 

P/16/0337 Currys PC World 
Unit 7 Cyfarthfa Retail 
Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1HY 
 

Installation of 5 No. signs to external 
elevations of building 

Advertisement 
Approval 

28/11/2016 

 

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 P/16/0003 - Morlais Medical Centre, Berry Square, Dowlais, Merthyr Tydfil
	4 P/15/0204 - Trebeddau Farm, Mountain Hare, Penheolferthyr, Twynyrodyn, Merthyr Tydfil
	5 Appeal Received P/16/0283
	6 Appeal Decision P/16/0041
	7 Delegated Decision Report List 1-30 November

